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WER/ BHS MUSHRUZ00ERO0TIL S
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW JERSEY

UHITED STATES OF AMERICA : :
V. : Criminal No. 07- ﬁ{ﬁﬁ? (gagfgj

MOHARMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWEER, 18 ULEB.C. B8 wzzigl (B},
DRITAN DUKA, : 822, 1117 & 2
a/k/a “Diatan Duka,” :
a/k/a “Enthony Duka,” ;
a/k/a *Tony Duksa,” :
BELJVIR DUKA,
a/k/a "Elvis Duka,”
a/k/a “sulayman,”
SHAIN DUEKA,
SERDAR TATAR, and
BORON ABDULLAHU

ITHDRDEICTHMERT

The Srand Jury in and for the District of Hew Jersey,
gitting in Cawnden, charges:
COUNT 1
{(Conapiracy To HMurder Members of the United States Military)
The Defondants
1. At all times relevant to this Indictment:
{a) Defendant MOHAMAD TARAHIM SHNEWER was a resident
of Cherry Hill, Hew Jersey.
(b)) Defendant DRITAN DUXA, a/k/a “Distan Duka.” a/k/a
“mnthony Duka,” a/k/a “Tony Duka,” was a resident of Cherry Hill,
New Jersey. Defendant DRITAN DUEA was illegally residing in the
United Ztates.
{c] Defendant ELJVIR DUKA, a/k/a “Blvis Duka,” a/k/a

“Sulayman,” was a resident of Cherry Hill, New Jersey. Defendant
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BLOVIR DUKA was 1llegally residing in the United States.

{3} Seﬁéndant SHAIN DUKA was a resident of Cherry Hill,
New Jergey. Defendant SHAIN DUKA was illegally residing in the
Uniged States.

(e} Defendant SERDAR TATAR wasg a resident of
Philadelphis, Pennsylvania.
Military Tngtajlstions

2. At all times relevant to thiszs Indictwment, members

of the uniformed services engaged in the performance of their
official duties at the following military installations:

(2} Unitved States Army Bage at Fort Dix, logcated in
Buriington County, New Jersey.

(b) Lakehurst Naval Air Station, located in Ocean
County, New Jersey.

{e) United States Army Bass abt Fort Monmouth, located
in Monmouth Counbty, Hew Jersey.

(d) Dover Air Force Base, located in Kent County,
Delawars.

{e] United States Coast Guard Bage, Sector Delaware
Bay, located in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania,

The Consplracy

3, The defendants, MOHAMED IRBRAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKA,
BELJVIRE DUKA, SHAIN DUKA and SERDAR TATAR were inespired by, among

others, al Qreda, a foreign terroriast organization which
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goongored, managed and financed terrorisi attacka against the
Unitsd Ztates and ite citizens, including the terrorist abtacks
of September 11, 2001 and attacks on Unived States military
foreass fighting in Irag and Afghaniztan, to form a conspiracy to
kill Unieed Btates military persgonnel stationed in NHew Jergey and
elsevhers,

4. From on or about January 3, 2006 to on or about Mavy 7,
2007, in Camden, Burlington, Ocean and Monmouth Counties, in the
District of New Jerzsey and elsewhere, the defendante,

MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SENEWER,
DRITAN DUKA,
a/k/a *Distan Duka,”
a/k/a *Anthony Duka,”
a/k/a *Tony Duka,?
ELJVIR DUESL,
a/k/a "Elvie Duka,”
a/k/a "sulayman,”
SHATN DUKA,
and
SERDAR TATAR,
did knowingly and willfully conspire and agree with esach other
artd with others, to kill and attempt to kill officers and
employees of agencies in the Executive Branch of the United
States Government, namely, members of the uniformed services,
while such officers and ewployvees were engaged in and on acoount

of the performance of official duties, and persons assisting such

cfficers and employees in the performance of such duties and on
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account of that agsistance, contrary te Title 18, United States
Codes Section 1114,

Obdect Of The Conspiracy

5. It was the cbiect of the conaspiracy for the defendants,
MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKA, BELJVIR DUKA, SHAIN DUKA and
SERDAKR TATAR, to kill United States military personnel by, among
other methods, engaging in armed paramilitary attacke on
government and military installations in New Jersey and
eloewhere.

Manner And Means 0Ff The Congpirscy

&. It was part of the conspiragy that defendants
MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHENEWER, DREITAN DUKA, ELJVIR DUXA and SHAIN DUKA
acguired, distributed and/or viewed DVDg and videos which
depicted viclent attacks on United States military personnel,
which espoused jihadist propaganda produced by al Qaeda and
others, and which sttempted to recrult the viewer Lo engage in
sarmed atracks against the United States Government.

7. It was further part of the conspiracy that
defendants MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DURA, BLIVIR DUKA,
SHAIN DUKR and SERDAR TATAR acquired and possessed weapons,
including but not limited to handguns, shotguns and ssami-
automatic assaull weapons.

8. It was further part of the conspiracy that defendants

MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKR, ELJVIR DUKA, SHAIN DUK2 and

1=
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SErhan TATAR engaged in firearms training in Pennsgylvania using
baadoens, shotguns and semi-aubtomabic assaulf weapons.

g. It was further part of the conspirscy that defendants
MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKA, EBELJVIR DUKER, SHAIN DUKA and
SERDAR TATAR engaged in tactical training in New Jersey and
Pennsvivania using, among other things, paint-ball guns and
eculpment .

10, It was further par:t of the conspiracy Lhat defendant
MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWER conducted survelllance operaticns at
several United Btates militsryy installations, including but not
limited to the United States Army Base at Fort Dix, the Lakehurst
Naval Air Station, the United States Army Base at Fort Monmouth,
the Dover Alr Force Base, and the United States Coastguard Base
in Philadelpnia, Pennsylivania.

b, It was further part of the conspirvacy that defendant
SERDAR TATAR acguired a map of the United States Army Base at
Fort Dix to be uged by members of the conspiracy to plan and
coordinate an attack on Foxt Dix.

12. It wag further part of the comspiracy that

defendants MOHAMAD IERAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKA, ELJVIR DUKA,

SHAIN DUKA aznd SEREDAER TATAERE used varicous methods to conceal the

existence of the conspiracy and the ildentities of their

coconsgpirators in order to avolid detection by law enforcemsnt

officials and further the goalg of the conspiracy.
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130 It was further part of the conepiracy that defendants
MOEAMAT TERAHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKA, ELJYVIR DUKA and SBHAIN DUEA
acguired and attempted to acquire fully automatic machine guns,
namely three AK-47 Halishnikov machine guns and four M-16 machine
gung, as well as four handguns.

Overt Actg

14. In furtherance of the conspirscy and to sffect its
unlawful object, defendante MOHAMBD IBRBHIM SHNEWER, DRITAN DUKA,
ELJVIR DUKA, SHAIN DUKA and SERDAR TATAR committed and caused to
he committed the following overt acts in the Disgtrict of New
Jersey and elsewhere:

{a} On or about January 3, 2008, MOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHNEWER, DRITAN DUXKA, BLIVIR DUKA, SHRIN DUKA and SERDAR TATAR
conducted firsarms training in Gouldebero, Pennsylvania.

{b}  On or sboub August 1, 2006, SERDAR TATAR
transferred his ownership of two weapons o a third party in
order to prevent thoss weapons from being traced to SERDAR TATAR
or other members of the conspiracy.

(cy On or about August 11, 2006, MOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHWNEWER conducted surveillance of the United Stateg Army Base at
Fort Dix.

{d} On or about Aucmet 11, 2008, MOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHMEWER conducted surveillance of the United States Army Base at

Fort Monomouth.
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{e) On or about August 13, 2006, MOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHHEWEE /conducted surveillance of Dover Alr Force Baszs.

(£} On or about August 13, 2006, MOHAMAD IBEAHIM
SHNEWER conducted surveillance of the United States Coast Guard
Base in Philadelphia, Pennsylvania.

fy} On or before November 28, 2006, SBRDAR TATAR
acguired a map of the United States Army Base at Fort Dix,
labeled *Cantonment Areas Fort Dix, HJ,” to be uzed by members of
the congpivacy to plan and coordinate an attack on Fort Dix.

{h} On or about November 28, 2006, S5ERDAR TATAR
provided the map of Fort Dix Lo an individual TATAR believed was
a member of the conspiracy.

{1} On or about Decembsr 2%, 2006, HMOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHNEWER took possession of the map of Fort Dix and hid it in a
secret locabtion.

(i} On or sbout January 31, 2007, DRITAN DUKA, ELJVIR
DUKA and SHAIN DUKA collected weapons, including handguns,
shotguns, and semi-automatic assault weaponz to be used during
firearmg training in Pennagylvania.

(ki On or about February 1, 2007, DRITAN DUKA, BELJVIR
DUKA and SHAIN DUKA traveled by car from New Jersey to
Penneylvania in order to conduct firearms training.

(1} On or about February 2, 2007, DRITAN DUKAZ, SHAIN

DUEA and ELJVIR DUKA engaged in firearms training in CGouldsboro,
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Perngvivania.

i}  On or about February 4, 2007, MOHAMAD ITBRAHIM
SHNEWER traveled by car to Gouldshoro, Pennsyivania in order to
conduct firearms training.

(i} On ox about February 4, 2007, MOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHNEWER, DREITAN DUKA, BLJVIR DUKA and SHAIN DUKA viewed tervorist
training DVDs and videos depicting, among other things, the death
and diememberment of United States military personnsl.

(o} On or about February 5, 2007, MOHAMAD IBRAHIM
SHNEWER, DRITAN DURA, SHATN DUKA and ELIVIER DURKA conducted
firearms training in Gouldsboro, Pennsylvania.

{(p}  On or about Pebruayry 246, 2007, DRITAN DUKA and
ELJVIR DUKA conducted tactical training in Cherry Hill, New
Jergey using paint-ball guns and equipment.

{g} On or about March 15, 2007, DRITAN DUKA and SHAIN
DUKA conducted tachtical training in Cherry Hill, New Jersev using
paint-hall gung and egquipment.

{(r} On or about April &, 2007, DRITAN DUKA agresd to
purchase three AK-47 Kalishnikeov fully aubtomstic machine guns,
four M-16 fully automatic machine guns, as well as four handguns,
from an individual he believed to be a black market weapons
dealer.

(g} On or about April 27, 2007, MOHAMAD IRRAHIM

SHNEWER =zgreed to purchase an AK-47 Kalishnikov fully autcmatic
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machine gun from an individual he believed to be a black market
weapone//dealer,

() On or about May 7, 2007, DREITAN DUXA and SHAIN
DUKA traveled to a location in Cherxy Hill, New Jerzev to tzke
posgession of the three AK-47 Kalighnikov fully automatic machine
gung, the four M-14 fully zutomatic machine guns, and the four
handgune ordered by DRITAN DUKA on April &, 2007.

Im wiolation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1117.
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COUNT 2
{Posmession Of Machineguns}

1. Paragraphs 1 through 3 and 5 through 14 of Count 1 of
this Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by
reference ag though set Iorth in full herein.

2. Ovt or about May 7, 2007, in Camgen County,. in the
Digtrict of Hew Jersey and slgewhere, the defendants,

DRITEN DUKA,
afk/a “Distan Duka,?
a/k/a “Anthony Duka, "
a/k/a “Tony Duka,”
and
SHATN DUKA,
did knowingly possess and attempt to possess machineguns, namely,
three AK-47 Kalishnikov fully sutomstic machine guns and four
M-16 fullv automatic machine gunsa.
In viclation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

gzz2{oy and 2.

10
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COUNT 3
{bospegaion OF Firesrms By An Alien)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 3 and % through 14 of Count 1 of
thiz Indictment are hereby reallsged and incorporated by
reference as though set forth in full herein.

2. On or about May 7, 2007, in Cawmden County, in the
District of New Jergey and elsewhere, the defendants
DRITAN [DUERA,
a/k/a "Distan Duka,”
a/k/a “Bnthony Duka, ”
a/k/a “Tony Duka,®
and
SHATHN DUKEA,
being aliens who were illegally and unlawfully in the United
States, did knowingly possess and attempt to possess in and
affecting commerce firearms, namely, three BK-47 Kalishnikev
fully automatic machine gunsg and four M-16 fully sutomatic
machine guna.
In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

822 (g} (5) and 2.

11
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COUNT 4
{(Pussession Of Firearms By An Alien)

1. Paragraphs 1 through 3 and 5 through 14 of Count 1 of
thig Indictment arse hereby reslleged and incorporated by
raference as though sger forth in full herein.

Z. BHetwsen on or about January 31, 2007 and on or about
February 1, 2007, in Camden County, in Che Districet of New Jersey
and slsewhere, the defendants

DRITAN DUKA,
a/k/a “Distan Duka »
afk/a “Anthony Duka,”
a/k/fa "Tony Duka,”
ELJVIR LUKEA,
a/k/a *BElvies Duka,”
a/k/a “Sulayman,”
and
SHATN DUHR,
being aliens who were lllegally and unlawfully in the United
Stateg, did knowingly possess in and affecting commerce
ammunition and firemrms, namely, one Beretta 9 millimeter pistoel
Model 22 besring serial number BER3I41463, one Mossberg 12 gauge
shotgun Model 500 beaving serial number P380768, one Yugoslavia
Model 59/66 7.62x39 millimeter semi-automatic rifle bearing
serial number F1519%44, and one Beretta 9 millimeter CX4 Storm
rifle bearing serial number CX02876.

In vielation of Title 18, United States Code, Sscitions

922 {g) {8} and 2.

12
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COUNE 5
{Aiding hAnd Abetting The Pospepsion Of Firearms By Aliens}

1. Paragraphs 1 through 2 and > through 14 of Count 1 of
thig Indictment are hereby realleged and incorporated by
reference as though set forth in full herein.

2. Betwssn on or aboub January 3L, 2007 and on or about
February 1, 2007, in Camden County, in the District of MNew Jersey
and elsewhere, the defendant,

AGRON ABDULLAHU,
did knowingly aid and abet Dritan Duka, Eljvir Duka and Shain
Duka, who were then aliens illegally and unlawfully in the United
States, to possess in and aifecting commerce firearms, namely,
one Beretta ¢ millimeter pisgtol Model 82 bearing serial number
BER241463, one Messberg 12 gauge shotgun Model 500 bearing serial
number P3B076E, one Yugoslavia Model 59/66 7.62x%3% millimeter
seml-automatic rifle bearing =serial numher FI151546, and one
Beretta % millimeter CH4 Storwm rvifle besring serial nurbey
oxXazeve.

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections

922 (gy (5} and 2.

A PRUE BILL

" RCREPERSO)

-

CHRISTOBHER &, CHRISTIE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

13
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CASE KNUMBER: 2008R00214

United States District Court
District of Mew Jersey

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA
Y.
MOHAMAD IBRAHIM SHNEWER,
DRITAN DUKA,
ak/a “Distan Daka,”
afl/a “Antheny Duka,”
afkin *Tony Duks,”
ELJVIR DUKA,
a/k/a “Elvis Duks,”
a'kfa “Sulayman,”
SHAIN DUEKA,
SERDAR TATAR, and
AGRON ABDULLANYE

INDICTMENT

Tiile 18, United States Code,
Sections 922{p)}(5), ¥22(e}, 1117 and 2

-

Manuw.wg&w Ry,

CarisTtoraen J. CERISTIE
{18 ATTORNEY
NEWARE, NEW JERSFEY

WILLIAM E. FITSPATEICE ! B STEPEHEN STIGALL
Assistant 118, Attorneys: -
Camden, New Jersey

URA-48A0 8
. 1797;



